STATE OF FLORIDA
FLORIDA HOUSING FINANCE CORPORATION
FLORIDA HOUSING FINANCE
CORPORATION,
Petitioner,
v.

FHFC Case No. 2017-029GA

PINNACLE HOUSING GROUP, LLC,
PHG BUILDERS, LLC, FELIX
BRAVERMAN, DAVID O. DEUTCH,
MITCHELL M. FRIEDMAN, MICHAEL
D. WOHL, and LOUIS WOLFSON, III,
Respondents.
___________________________________/
ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLAINT
1.

Petitioner is the Florida Housing Finance Corporation (‘Florida Housing” or the

“Corporation”), a public corporation, with its address at 227 North Bronough Street, Suite 5000,
Tallahassee, Florida 32301, organized to provide and promote the public welfare by administering
the governmental function of financing and refinancing housing and related facilities in the State
of Florida. §420.504, Fla. Stat. (2016).
2.

Respondent, Pinnacle Housing Group, LLC (“PHG”), is a limited liability

corporation authorized to conduct business in the State of Florida, and is an entity engaged in the
development of affordable housing. At all times material hereto, PHG was an Applicant or
Developer as defined by Fla. Admin. Code R. 67-48.002.
3.

Respondent, PHG Builders, LLC (“PHG Builders”), is a limited liability company

authorized to conduct business in the State of Florida. At all times material hereto, PHG Builders
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was subject to the control of PHG and its Principals as set forth below, and acted as a General
Contractor defined by Fla. Admin. Code R. 67-48.002.
4.

Respondent Felix Braverman was at all times material hereto Vice President of

PHG Builders and an Affiliate, Financial Beneficiary and Principal of PHG as these terms are
defined by Fla. Admin. Code R. 67-48.002.
5.

Respondent David O. Deutch was at all times material hereto Vice President,

Secretary and Treasurer of PHG and Senior Vice President of PHG Builders, and an Affiliate,
Financial Beneficiary and Principal of PHG as these terms are defined by Fla. Admin. Code R. 6748.002.
6.

Respondent Mitchell M. Friedman was at all times material hereto Vice President

of PHG and Vice President of PHG Builders, and an Affiliate, Financial Beneficiary and Principal
of PHG as these terms are defined by Fla. Admin. Code R. 67-48.002.
7.

Respondent Michael D. Wohl was at all times material hereto President of PHG

and President of PHG Builders, and an Affiliate, Financial Beneficiary and Principal of PHG as
these terms are defined by Fla. Admin. Code R. 67-48.002.
8.

Respondent Louis Wolfson, III was at all times material hereto Controller of PHG

and Controller of PHG Builders, and an Affiliate, Financial Beneficiary and Principal of PHG as
these terms are defined by Fla. Admin. Code R. 67-48.002.
9.

At all times material hereto the address of all Respondents in this case was and

remains 9400 South Dadeland Blvd., Suite 100, Miami, Florida 33156.
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10.

Florida Housing administers various affordable housing programs including the

Low Income Housing Tax Credit (“LIHTC”) Program pursuant to §42 of the Internal Revenue
Code and §420.5099, Fla. Stat. (2016), under which Florida Housing is designated as the LIHTC
agency for the State of Florida within the meaning of §42(h)(7)(A) of the Internal Revenue Code,
and Fla. Admin. Code R. 67-48.
11.

In or about 2008 and 2009, PHG applied to Florida Housing through related

Applicant entities and received LIHTC allocations regarding four proposed multifamily housing
developments (hereinafter, the “Developments”): Cypress Grove (2009-047TX); Vista Mar
(2009-060CTX); Orchid Grove (2009-061CTX); and Avery Glen (2010-044CX).
12.

Rather than an allocation of traditional LIHTC, the Developments were financed

with monetized tax credits pursuant to the Tax Credit Exchange Program (TCEP) and the Tax
Credit Assistance Program (TCAP) funded through the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act
of 2009 (ARRA). TCEP funds were provided as grants, whereas TCAPs were provided as loans.
13.

In connection with the above Developments, PHG, through its affiliated General

Contractor, PHG Builders, ostensibly employed another affiliated entity, DAXC, LLC (DAXC),
as its “shell” (external construction) contractor.

DAXC, in turn, subcontracted the shell

construction for the Developments to a third, unaffiliated sub-contractor, Gillette, which actually
performed the work on the Developments.
14.

DAXC did not have the expertise, staff, or equipment to complete the shell work

on the Developments.
15.

PHG and PHG Builders submitted construction contracts with DAXC regarding

Development costs to Florida Housing with an inflated amount for concrete “shell” construction.
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These inflated costs increased the concrete shell construction costs for each of the Developments
by a total of approximately $3.4 million compared to the final bid prices submitted by Gillette.
The difference in the amount submitted was paid to DAXC, which distributed over $3.1 million
of the proceeds to and for the personal benefit of Respondents Braverman, Deutch, Friedman,
Wohl and Wolfson.
16.

DAXC was created by PHG to inflate the cost of the above four Developments, in

order to obtain excess Federal funds to which PHG would not have otherwise been entitled.
17.

The inflation of the above costs caused in turn the inflation of the Developer (PHG)

and General Contractor (PHG Builders) fees by approximately $800,000 per Development, in
violation of the 16% and 14% respective fee limits authorized by Fla. Admin. Code R. 6748.004(16).
18.

The US Attorney for the Southern District of Florida, along with the Federal Bureau

of Investigation (FBI) and other agencies, have investigated the above allegations, in cooperation
with Florida Housing. As a result of the Federal investigation, DAXC, through its Principals who
are Respondents herein, entered into a Deferred Prosecution Agreement (DPA). A copy of this
DPA is attached hereto as ‘Exhibit A.”
19.

The DPA includes statements by Respondents that constitute admissions to the

above allegations that DAXC was created for the purpose of inflating costs and did in fact inflate
costs for the personal benefit of Respondents. These inflated costs incurred by DAXC were not
necessary for the completion of the Development.
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20.

The DPA also required that DAXC and its Affiliates (the Respondents) pay a fine

of $1 million to the United States Treasury, as well as forfeiture of all of the TCEP and TCAP
funds provided to the Developments ($4,212,825.00) pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §982.
21.

The DPA further provides that DAXC admits that at least the amount of

$4,212,825.00 was proceeds of/involved in transactions in violation of 18 U.S.C. §641, which
provides, in pertinent part:
Whoever embezzles, steals, purloins, or knowingly converts to his use or the use of
another, or without authority, sells, conveys or disposes of any record, voucher,
money, or thing of value of the United States or of any department or agency
thereof, or any property made or being made under contract for the United States
or any department or agency thereof; or
Whoever receives, conceals, or retains the same with intent to convert it to his use
or gain, knowing it to have been embezzled, stolen, purloined or converted—
Shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than ten years, or both; but if
the value of such property in the aggregate, combining amounts from all the counts
for which the defendant is convicted in a single case, does not exceed the sum of
$1,000, he shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than one year, or
both.
22.

Lastly, the DPA provides that DAXC agrees, in pertinent part, that its Affiliates:

“…shall not, through present or future attorneys, officers, directors, employees,
agents or any other person authorized to speak for [DAXC] make any public
statement, in litigation or otherwise, contradicting the acceptance of responsibility
by [DAXC]…in the attached Statement of Facts.
23.

§420.507(35), Fla. Stat. (2016), provides that Florida Housing may:

Preclude from further participation in any of the corporation’s programs, any
applicant or affiliate of an applicant which has made a material misrepresentation
or engaged in fraudulent actions in connection with any application for a
corporation program.
24.

Fla. Admin. Code R. 67-48.004(2) further provides, in pertinent part:

An Applicant shall be ineligible for funding or allocation in any program
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administered by the Corporation for a period of time as determined in (c) below if:
(a) The Board determines that the Applicant or any Principal, Financial
Beneficiary, or Affiliate of the Applicant has made a material
misrepresentation or engaged in fraudulent actions in connection with any
Application for a Corporation program.
25.

Fla. Admin. Code R. 67-48.002 provides the following definitions pertinent to these

proceedings:
(5) “Affiliate” means any person that:
(a) Directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is
controlled by, or is under common control with the Applicant or Developer;
(b) Serves as an officer or director of the Applicant or Developer or of any
Affiliate of the Applicant or Developer;
(c) Directly or indirectly receives or will receive a financial benefit from a
Development except as further described in Rule 67-48.0075, F.A.C.; or
***
(50) “Financial Beneficiary” means any Principal of the Developer or Applicant
entity who receives or will receive any direct or indirect financial benefit from a
Development except as further described in Rule 67-48.0075, F.A.C.
***
(63) “Housing Credit Allocation” means the amount of Housing Credits determined
by the Corporation as necessary to make a Development financially feasible and
viable throughout the Development’s Compliance Period pursuant to Section
42(m)(2)(A) of the IRC.
COUNT I
26.

Petitioner realleges and incorporates paragraphs 1 through 24 as if fully set forth

27.

Respondents inflated the amount of funds obtained from Florida Housing in excess

herein.

of that necessary to complete the Developments.
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28.

Respondents misrepresented the nature, role, work and capabilities of DAXC in

order to fraudulently obtain additional and unnecessary funding from Florida Housing for their
own personal use and benefit.
29.

Based on the foregoing, Respondents have violated Fla. R. Admin. Code 67-

48.004(16) by exceeding the 16% and 14% Developer and General Contractor fees, as well as
fraudulently obtaining excess LIHTC funds not necessary to make the Development financially
feasible and viable, pursuant to Fla. Admin. Code R. 67-48.002(63).
30.

Respondents have engaged in fraudulent actions and have materially

misrepresented information to Florida Housing within the meaning of §420.507(35), Fla. Stat.
(2016), and Fla. Admin. Code R. 67-48.004(2) by submitting contracts and costs for fees in excess
of that authorized by Rule.
WHEREFORE, Petitioner respectfully request the Florida Housing Finance Corporation
impose a penalty precluding Respondents and any Affiliates of Respondents from participation in
any program administered by Florida Housing for a period of two years from the date of any Final
Order issued hereupon.
Respectfully submitted this 1st day of May, 2017.

Hugh R. Brown, General Counsel
Fla. Bar No. 0003484
Florida Housing Finance Corporation
227 North Bronough Street, Suite 5000
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
Phone: (850) 488-4197
Fax: (850) 488-9809
hugh.brown@floridahousing.org
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy of the foregoing ADMINISTRATIVE
COMPLAINT has been furnished by electronic and US Mail to Gary Cohen, Esquire, Counsel
for Respondents, Shutts & Bowen LLP , 200 South Biscayne Boulevard, Suite 4100,
Miami, FL 33131, who has agreed to accept service on behalf of all Respondents, this 1st day of
May, 2017.

Hugh R. Brown
General Counsel
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NOTICE OF RIGHTS
Please be advised that mediation under Section 120.573, Florida Statutes, is not available
for administrative disputes involving this type of agency action.
Please be advised that Respondent has the right to request a hearing to be conducted in
accordance with Sections 120.569 and 120.57, Florida Statutes, to be represented by a counselor
or other qualified representative, to present evidence and argument, to call and cross-examine
witnesses and to have subpoenas and subpoenas duces tecum issued on his, her, or its behalf if a
hearing is requested. Any request for an administrative proceeding to challenge or contest the
charges contained in the Administrative Complaint must conform to Rule 28-106.2015, Florida
Administrative Code. Rule 28-106.111, Florida Administrative Code, which provides in part that
if Respondent fails to request a hearing within 21 days of receipt of an agency pleading,
Respondent waives the right to request a hearing on the facts alleged.
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Exhibit A

